
UNITRD tiATIONS 

l({~~:; \ ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL 
~' •'f Forty-fi~"th session ~ 'rt? ,. 
~~ OFFICIAL RECORDS 

t set st (adjo,urning) meeting 

Friday, 2 August 1968 
=at 8.50 p.m. 

PALAIS DES NATIONS, GENEVA 

CONTENTS 

Agenda item 23: 

Development and co-ordination of the activities of the 
organizations within the United Nations system 
(a) Reports of the Commlttee for Programme ar..rl Co· 

ordination and of the joint meetings of the Com
mittee for Programme and Co-ordination and the 
Administrative Committee on Co-ordination 

(b) Annual report of the Administrative Committee on 
Co-ordination 

(c) Reports of the specialized agencies and the Inter
national Atomic Energy Agency 

(d) Expenditures of the United Nations system in relation 
to programmes 

(e) Activities of the United Nations system of organiza· 
tions in the transport field 

(f) Implementation of Council resolution 1281 (XLIII), 
part I, paragraphs 3 and 4 

Reports of the Co-ordination Committee . . . . . . 

Agenda item 24: 

Implementation of the recommetldations of the Ad Hoc 
Committee of Experts to Examine the Finances of the 
United Nations and the Specialized Agencies 
Report of the Co-ordination Corrmittee . . • . . . . 

Agenda item 26: 

Activities of the United Nations family of organizations 
in conne,don with natural disasters 
Report of the Co-ordination Committee . . . . • . • 

Agenda item 13: 

The sea 

(a) Resources of' the sea 
(b) Marine science and technology 
Report of the Co-ordination Committee 

Agenda items 2 and 3 : 

. . . . . . . 

General discussion of economic and social policy (resumed 

Page 

195 

196 

196 

197 

from tlte 1543rd meeting and concluded) • . • . . . . 197 
Economic and social consequences ·of disarmament 

(resumed from tlze 1552nd meetiltlf and ctmcluded) • . ~ 197 
Financial implications of actions of the Council . . . . 197 
Credentials of representatives . . • . • . . • . . 197 

Agenda item 31 : 

Arrangements regarding the report of the Council to the 
General Assembly • . . . . . . , . . • • . . • . 197 

Adjournment of the session . . • . • • • • • . . . • 198 

President: Mr. PEREZ GUERRERO (Venezuela). 

AGENDA ITEM 23 

Development and C()-()rdination of the activities of the 
organizations within the United Nations system 

(a) Reports of the Committee for. Programme and 
Co-ordination t!nd of the joint meetings of the 
Committee for Programme and Co-ordinatiDn and 
the Administrative Conunittee on Co-ordination 

(b) Annual reP.ort of the AdmiDistrative Committee on 
Co-ordination 

(c) Reports of the specialize~ agencies and the ')L-.ter
nationaJ Atomic ,Energy Agency 

(d) Expenditures of the United Nations system in 
relation to programmes 

(e) Activi.ties of the United Nations ~·'#em of or-
ganizations m the transport field ') 

(f) Implementation of Coim~n reso!uti~n 1281 (XLDI), 
part I, paragraphs 3 and 4 · 

REPORTS OF THE Co-ORDINATION Co~IT~E 
(E/4568, E/4571 1 E/4585, E/~~586) ·. 

_)'-" 

1. The PRESIDENT invited the ·Council to consider 
the report of the Co-ordination ·Committee on agenda 
item 23 (a), (b) and (c) (E/4571), and to vote on draft 
resolutions I-V contained in paragraph 16. 

I. ENHANCEMENT OF THE CO-ORDINATING ROLE OF CTHE 
ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL lN THE ECONOMIC, ~ 
SOCIAL AND RELAtED FIELDS OF ACTIVITY OF THE 
ORGANIZATIONS AND SPECIALIZED AGENCIES OF, THE 
UNITEO NATIONS SYSTEM " 

Draft resolutioiJ I was adopted unanimously. 

II. QUESTIONS ARISING FROM THE REPORTS OF THE ADMIN· 
ISTRATIVE COMMITTEE ON Co-OlU>INATION AND THE 
COMMITTEE FOR PROGRAMME AND Co-ORDINATION 

Draft resolution II was adopted unanimously. 

III. CO-ORDINATION AT THE NATIONAL LEVEL 

2. Mr. DIALLO (Upper Vo'ita) said he was not quite 
happy about the drafting of the sixth paragraph of the 
preamble. The expression "among other things is" 
seemed to imply that there were problems other than the 
problem of conflicting decisions. 

3. Mr. KOTSCHNIG (Unitea States of America) 
suggested that the words in . questipn should be replaced 
by " is among other reasons ". , 

4. Mr. GREGH (France) agreed with that suggestion. 
The Unfted States amendment was adopted. 
Draft resolution III, as amended, was adopted unani

mously. 

195 E/SR.1561 



196 Economic and Social Council-F~!!;..Y·_ft..;.:,fth .......... sess;..;:.;...;.io.;._n ____________ , __ _ 

IV, PREPARATION OF REPORTS 
Draft resolution IV was adopted unanimously. 

V. REPORTS OF THE SPECIALIZED AGENCIES, THE INTER· 
NATIONAL AtOMIC ENERGY AGENCY AND THE ADMIN· 
ISTRATIVE COMMITTEE ON CO-ORDINATION 

Draft resolution V was adopted unanimously. 

5. The PRESIDENT invited the Council to consider the 
report of the Co-ordination Committee on agenda 
item 23 (d) (E/45B5), and to vote on the draft decision 
contained in paragraph 3. 

The draft decision was o.dopted t~nanimously. 

6. The PRESIDENT invited the Council to consider the 
report of the· Co-ordination Committee 011 agenda 
item 23 (e) (E/4568), and to vot1~ on draft resolutions I 
and H contained in paragraph 7 thereof. , 

I. DMSION , OF RESPONSIBILITIES AMONG THE UNlTED 
NATIONS SECRETARIAT UNITS CONCERNED WITH SHIP· 
PING AND PORTS 

7. Mr. GREGH (France) recalled that when the d1;aft 
resolution had been examined in the Co-ordinat1 on 
Committee his delegation had expressed reservations 
conce:J:ning the, drafting of operative paragraph 3. It 
still had re:;ervations concerning the substance of the 
patagraph, but was prepared to vote for it on the under
standing that the paragraph did not authorize a partial 
or ·total transfer of the powtrs currently exercised by 
any United Nations body or organi?~tion to either of 
the two units mentioned therein. 

8. Mr~ LOBANOV (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics), 
Mr. ALLEN (United Kingdom) and Mr. KOTSCHNIG 
(United States of America) concurred with the French 
representative's. remarks. 

Draft resolution 1 was adopted. 

II. AcTIVI1'JES OF THE UNITED NATIONS SYSTEM OF 
ORGANIZATIONS IN THE TRANSPORT FIELD 

Draft resolution II was adopted unanimouslyw 

9. The PRESIDENT invited the Council to consider the 
report of the Co-ordination Committee on agenda 
item 23 (f) (E/4586) and to vote on the draft decision and 
draft resolutions I-IV contain:~d in paragraph 4. 

The draft decision was adopted unanimously. 

I. PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO THE RULES OF PROCEDURE 
OF THE ECONOMIC COMMISSlON FOR .AFrucA 
Draft resolution 1 was adopted unanimously. 

II. PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO RULES OF PROCEDURE OF 
THE ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR EUROPE 

Draft resolution II was adopted unanimously. 

III. PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO THE RULES OF PROCEDURE 
OF Tim ECONOMlC CoMMISSION FOR, ASIA AND THE 
FAR EAST AND THE ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR 
LATIN AMEmcA 

Draft resolution Ill was adopted unanimously. 

IV. PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO THE RULES OF PROCEDURE 
OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY 

10. Mr. FORTHOMME (Belgium) said there was no 
indication in the report of the renson why part of the 
text of rule 162 in operative pa!agraph 2 was in square 
brackets. He understood that it was for the General 
Assembly to decide whether or not to retain the words 
in qu~stion, but some explanation should be ~iven in 
the Council's report to the Assembly. 

11. Mr. HILL (Assistant S~cretary-Geueral for Inter
Agency Affairs) said that the Legal Office had wished 
to suggest alternative wording and to leave it to the 
General Assembly to decide which wording it preferred. 

12. The PRESIDENT said he assumed the Council would 
agree that that explanation should be contained in its 
report to the General Assembly. 

It was so decided. 
Draft resolution IV was adopted unanimously. 

AGENDA ITEM 24 

Implementation of the lrecommendatioll$ of the Ad Hoc 
Committee of Experts to Examine the Finances of the 
United Nations and tb1e Specialized Agencies 

REPORT OF THE Co~ORDINATION COMMITTEE (E/4572) 

13. The PRllSIDENT invited the Council to consider 
the report of the Co-ordination Committee on agenda 
item 24 (E/4572) and to vote on draft resolutions I and II 
contained in paragraph 5. 

I. SUMMARY RECORDS OF MEETINGS OF SUBSIDlARY ORGANS 
OF THE COUNCIL 

14. Mr. KOTSCHNIG (United States of America) pro
posed that the words "and Council resolution 1264 
(XLIII) " should be added after " General Assembly 
resolution 2292 (XXII) " in operative paragraph 1. 

It was so decided. 
Draft resolution!, as amended, was a4opted unanimous~y. 

II. LONG•RANGE PLANNING 
Draft resolution II was adopted unanimously. 

AGENDA ll'EM 26 

Activities of the United Nations family of organizations 
in connexion with natural disasters 

REPORT CF THE Co~ORDINATION COMMITTEE (E/4573) 

15. The PRESIDENT invited the Council to consider 
the report of the Co-ordination Committee on agenda 
item 26 (E/4573), with particular reference to the decision 
:r.ecommended in paragraph 4. 

16. Mr. BERQUIST (Sweden) thought that that decision 
should be taken on the understanding that the draft 
resolution in question (E/ AC . .24/L.353) would be taken 
up at an early stage in the re&-~med session. 



l561st m~etlng-2 A~~gUst 1968 
-------------------------~----~------~--.---~~-----------------~----------~ 

197 

17. The PRESIDENT suggested that tbe Council should 
adopt the decision on that understanding. 

It was so decided. 

AGENDA ITEM 13 

The sea 
(a) Resour£es of the sea 
(b) Marine science and technology 

. REPORT OF THE Co-ORDINATION COMMITTEE (E/4584) 

18. The PRESIDENT invited the Council to consider 
the Co-ordination Committee's report on agenda item 13 
(E/4584) and to vote on draft resolutions I~III contained 
in paragmph 8. 

J. MARINE SCIDNCE AND TECHNOLOGY 
• Draft resolution I was adopted unanimously. 

II. RESOURCES OF THE SEA 
Draft resolution II was adopt\~d unanimously. 

III. LONG·RANGE PROGRAMME FOR THE EXPLORATION OF 
THE SEA 

19. Mr. GALLARDO MORENO (Mexico) said that, 
although tnany delegations had expressed reservations 
and doubts regarding the text of draft resolution III, 
an'l there had been consultations between its sponsors 
and other delegations, . the report merely stated that the 
Co-orc!ination Committee had unanimously approved 
the revised drait resolution. He believed that the report 
should include all the explanations of \1otes in extenso 
and aU the reservations expressed in the Committee 
(362nd met~,ting). Those reservations should also be men .. 
tioned in the summary records of the present meeting. 

20. Mr. BUCETA (Argentina), referring to the reserva
tions his delegation had made in the Co-ordination 
Committee, reaffirmed his Government's exclusive rights 
in regard to the exploration of marine areas, including 
the continental shelf. Those areas could only be explored 
by other States or international organizations with 
Argentina's consent. 

21. Mr. AL-MUTAIR (Kuwait) also referred to the 
reservations his delegation had expressed regarding the 
draft resolution and reaffirmed his country's sovereign 
rights over marine areas, including the continental shelf 
and the territorial waters. He wished those reservations 
to be recorded in extenso in the Council's report. 

22. Mr. KIRDAR (Turkey) associated his delegation 
with the comments that had been made with regard to 
draft resolution III. 

23. Mr. BRUNI CELLI (Venezu~Ia), Mr. KRISHNAN 
(India), Mr. NA YBRI (Iran) and Mr. BRILLANTES 
(Philippines} also reaffirmed the reservations their dele
gations had made in the Co-ordination Committee and 
supported the suggestion of the MexicaQ representative 
that those reservations and the explanations of vote 

made in the Committee should be fully recorded in the 
Council's report. 

24. The PRESIDENT said that the statements just ·made 
would be reported iu the summary record of the meeting, 
and that appropriate references would be made in the 
Council's report to the General Assembly. The Council's 
unanimous adoption of draft resolution III would not 
annul any reservations ~ade · by delegations. 
, Draft resolution Ill was adopted -unanimously on that 
understanding. · 

AGENDA ITEMS Z AND 31 

General discussion of economic ~nd .social policy 
(resumed from the 1543rd meeting a1~d concluded) 

/ ',', 

Economic and social consequences of disarmament 
(resumed from the 1552nd meeting (J"';d concluded) 

,.' 

25. The PRES!DENT said that, as no draft resolutions 
had been submitted on agenda items 2, and 3, the Council 
had conclurled its consideratiotl of those items. ,~, 

Financial implications of actions of the council (E/4~81) 

26. The PRESIDENT suggested that the Council sh:~uld 
take note of the report of the Secretary-General ou .. the 
financial implications of action~ of the Council {.&~58J). 

It was so decided. , . 

Cred~~tials of representatives (E/4577} 

27. The PRESIDENT drew attention to the report of 
the President and, the Vice-Presidents on the credentials 
of repr~sentatives to the forty-fifth session of the (;ouncil 
(E/4577). ., . 

AGENDA IT.E}\\(t 31 

Arrangements regarding the report of the·- Council to the 
General Assembly (E/L.1213) 

28. The PRESIDENT recalled that in the past the Council '· 
had authorized the President to prepare its report to the 
G~neral Assembly in consultation with the Vice-Presi .. 
dents and the Secretariat. He asked whether the Council 
wished to continue that practice. 

29. Mr. ZAKHAROV (Union of Soviet Socialist Repub· 
lies) said that the discussions had revealed widespread 
recognition of the complexity of the world economic and 
social situB~tion, and the urgent need to remove the 
obstacles t1P its normalization and to United Nations 
efforts to t~romote mutually beneficial international co
operation. , His delegation believed that the Council's 
report shoilld draw attention to factors which had an 
adverse effelct on economic and social development, as 
revealed by the exchange of views during the debates. 
Many deleglations had referred to the dangerous conse• 
quences of the arms race a.nd had noted in that connexion 
the importam~e of the General Assembly's commendation 
of 1.the draft treaty on the nonwproliferatioh of nuclear 
weapons for further efforts in that direction. The discus .. 



198 Economic and Social Councii-,-Forty .. fifth session 

sion .. on the economic and social consequences of dis .. 
armament had shown that the question was still of vital 
interest, and the Council's report should, in the light of 
General Assembly resolution 2171 (XXI), not only em
pha.size the urgency of the disarmament problem, but 
Q}so indicate what factors were preventing disarmament. 
The report should also refer to the adverse effects of 
p;rese~'t armed conflicts on the development of individual 
count:des and on international economic relations in 
general. By drawing the General 1Assembly's attention 
!1.:> the viewa expressed during the discussions, the Council 
would. encourage further studies of the economic and 
social consequences of disarmament and more energetic 
efforts to end th~ arms race. 

30. Council members had · given some prominence to 
the implementation;by the specialized agencies and inter
national institutions associated with the United Nations, 
of the Declaration on the Granting of Independence to 
Colonial Countries and Peoples. The discussion had 
revealed the importance of such action to the developing 
countries, especially in Africa. The Council could play 
a major part in co-ordinating and guiding the activities 
of the specialized agencies in that field. The General 
Assembly should be informed of·. the action still needed 
to speed up the implementation of the Declaration and 
to liquidate the vestiges of colonialism and racialism. 

31. The del~gations of developing and socialist countries 
had spok~n forcefully of the need to normalize inter
national trade in the spirit of the principles adopted at 
the first session of UNCTAD and the decisions of the 
second session, especially with regard to trade in com
moditi~s and manufactured gpods. The report should em
phas~ie that the solution of problems in that field would 
greatly help developing countries to mobilize their inteqtal 
and foreign exchange resources and so achieve the objec
tives of the current United Nations Development Decade 
and those proposed for the 1970s. The discussions on 
the United Nations programmes for th~ 1970s had 
indicated more constructive li:1;1es of approaph to the 
preparation of those programme~, and ways of enhancing 
the Council's role in that work. He hoped that his dele
gation's comments on the aims and substance of the 
programmes for the 1970s would be fully reflected in 
the report.' He believed that the Council should continue 
its study of aspects of the utilization of human resources, 
especially the training of national qualified personnel, 
the problem of the brain drain and the pght of developing 
countries to compensation in that regard. 

32. Although the discussions on those subjects had not 
invariably reflected a unanimity of views, they had 
revealed new positive factors which needed further study. 
A full reference to those discusoions in the Council's 
report could serve as a basis for s~~~h further studies by 
the General Assembly and other United Nations bodies 
and lead to a more dynamic approach to economic and 
social problems. Special attention had been drawn to 
the growing need to enhance the co-ordinating role of 
the Council, which could help to make the work of the 
United Nations and the specialized agencies more effective. 

33. The question of the universality of United Nations 
bodies had been raised on numerous ot~casions, and some 

progress had been made in that direction during the 
current session. That should also be mentioned in the 
Council's report. 

34. Mr. GOLDSCHMIDT (United States of America) 
supported the President's suggestion that thr:.. report 
should be prepared in accordance with past practice. He 
was confident that the Secretariat would ensure that the 
report fairly reflected the views expressed by all the 
members of the Council. He saw no point, at that late 
stage, in enumerating the subjects debated during the 
session or reiterEiting the points made by his delegation 
in those debates, including the opposition it had expressed, 
to the Soviet suggestion concerning the re-orientation of 
the United Nations programme on the economic and 
social consequences of disarmament. 

35. The PRESIDENT said that the Secretariat would 
make sure that the remarks of the USSR representative 
were reflected as fully as possible in the Council's report. 
If tilere was no objection, the report would be prepared 
in accordance with the procedure indicated in the note 
by the Secretary-General (E/L.l213). 

It was so decided. 

Adjm~rnment of the session 

36. The PRESIDENT said that the forty-fifth session of 
the Council had afforded the first major occasion for 
reference to and discussion of the prospects for the future 
after the ser•:>nd session of UNCTAD. The Council, 
which, under the United Nations Charter, was responsible 
for inspiring and co-ordinating international policies for 
economic and social affairs, had not always succeeded in 
fully discharging that function. It must accept greater 
responsibilities, improve its methods of work, rationalize 
its procedure and discussions and master an increasing 
volume of items and documentation. 
37. The central point of the debates had been the Devel
opment Decade. There had been a sort of " soul search
ing " and an appraisal of the achievements of the current 
Decade together with a preliminary examination of the 
preparations for the second Decade. Two distinct tones 
had been heard throughout the general discussion and 
had been reflected in the Secretary-General's opening 
statement (1531st meeting): one of fru~tration and one 
of cautious optimism. The trends and figures referred 
to in the documentation before the Council were not 
encouraging. The poor countries, as a whole, were 
lagging further and further behind the richer ones, while 
the flow of international financing had become stagnant, 
despite considerable efforts by some advanced countries. 
Although at the second session of UNCTAD it had been 
decided that contributions from the developed countries 
should be based on 1 per cent of the gross national 
product, it had proved impossible to agree on a date 
for the achievement of that target, and the results of the 
Conferet].ce had, on the whole, been very limited. There 
was, however, reason for cautious optimism. The intrica
cies of the process of economic development were now 
better understood than in the past. Industrialization was 



l561st meeting-2 August 1968 

gathering momentum throughout the developing world. 
Emphasis was being placed on agdcultur~ without neg
lecting the other components of the~ economy. The first 
results of new agricultural technology were beginning 
to emerge, ~ometimes very dramatically. 

38. In view of the fact that food policy and food aid 
were among the most important ingredients of a global 
strategy, it was regrettable that the Council had not had 
the time to discuss such matters, since a problem of that 
complexity and magnitude, which involved such conflict
ing interests, was precisely the type of problem for which, 
under the Charter, the Council should define the general 
framework of discussion and action. 

39. The world community was, on balance, better equip
ped. to launch a concerted programme of action for the 
second Development Decade. The targets established for 
the current Development Decade had been rather sim
plistic, and it was to be hoped that the targets for the 
coming Decade would be more meaningful. Important 
technical work wau being carried out by the Secretary
General for that purpose, in consultation with the Com
mittee for Dev~lopment Planning and other organizations 
of the United Nations system. 
40. Although the establishment of certain objectives by 
the world community was bound to provide a great 
stimuhls to both thought and action, success in attaining 
them would, in the last analysis, depend upon the vigour 
with which appropriate policies were forinulated and 
applied by individual countries themselves as well as 
through concerted action. The Committee for Develop
ment Planning in the report on its third session (E/4515) 
had, once again, reminded th~ Council that there was 
often still a gulf betwePu plan formulation and plan 
implementation in developing countries. That Committee 
had made some stimulating suggestions regarding plan
ning in Africa, and there would shortly be other proposals 
concerning Asia and the Far East. 

41. Although primary responsibility for development 
rested with the developing countries, their efforts, as the 
Council had frequently reiterated, would only succeed if 
favourable policies were adopted by the economically 
advanced members of the world community. A number 
of important decisions in that respect taken by UNCTAD 
at New Delhi needed implementing as soon as possible. 
The Council could not but be perturbed by the fact 
that the net flow of resources from developed countries 
had generally been declining in recent years, while there 
had been a rapid increase in reverse flows from the 
developing countries. 
42. The need to soften terms of assistance remaified 
urgent, and it was evident that the most important 
element for the success of the coming Development 
Decade was the political will of Governments of both 
developed and developing countries to do all that could 
reasonably be expected of them to make that Decade a 
success. It was incumbent upon the Council not only 
to make a great contribution to the preparations for the 
Decade, but also to stimulate efforts to produce results. 
The Council had adopted resolution 1356 (XLV) whereby 
its Economic Committee would rneet between sessions; 
and the experience gained in the coming year would 

help the Council to play a more positive role, in the 
coming Decade, in helping to attain the objectives set 
and in re-assessing its machinery and procedures.,, 
43. The who!e United Nations family would be involved 
in implementing the second Development Decade, but 
the role required of the. regional economic commissions 
was outstanding. The volume 'and complexity of the 
tasks facing the commissions nad increased . from year 
to year, but so had the commissions' experience. As 
several representatives had noted, the regional colllttlis
sions had become very useful tools of decentralization 
and were developing increasingly close relationships with 
universal bodies in the United Nations family. 
44. A good example of the co-ordination of the efforts 
of the regional ·economic commissions with those of 
other United Nations bodies was provided by the United 
Nations Export Promotion Programme; and the commis
sions would, in future, implement the policy of the 
UNCTAD/GATT International Trade Centre established 
in January 1968 undel: General Assembly resolution 2297 
f.XXII). The role the regional economic commissions had 
played in regional integration had been very welcome 
and had been regarded as a promising at,tempt on the 
part of the developing countries to settle ce~~ain prpblems 
among themselves. The hope had been ~xpressed <in the 
Council that the regional economic conunissions would 
make an. important contribution to the implementation 
of development strat~gy in the forthcoming Developm~nt 
Decade. 

\\ 

45. It was certainly premature to try to indicate the 
main lines of action for the next Devel(\:\})ment Decade, 
but it was desirable that a proper balance should be 
found between the development of natural resources and 
the utilization of human resources, with due regard to 
both their ec9nomic and their social aspects. Tk~ question 
of natural resol.!tces should not be lost -:sight of, for they 
were essential for any economic progress. As th~ Secre
tary-General had pointed out in his introductory state
ment, the discovery and exploitation of natural resources 
were of vital importance to the developing countries; 
and the United Nations had made a very significant 
contribution in that t·espect. The 'natural resources with 
which the Council had been mainly concerned at its 
current session had been those of the sea.· The growing 
interest of the world community in problems· relating 
to the oceans and their resources had been clearly reflected 
in the debates. The first initiative in that:,area had been 
taken by the Council, when; at its f.,rtieth session, it had 
adopted resolution 1112 (XL) regarding resources of the 
sea beyond the limits of domestic jurisdiction. While 
knowledge of maritime resources was still very limited 
and incomplete, the necessity of increasing the present 
stock of knowledge had been unanimously emphasized. 
In that respect, it was necessary to envisage a long-term 
programme of investigations, as the Council had decided, 
and to enhance international co-operation with a view 
to making adequate use of the potential resources of the 
ocean for the benefit of mankind as· a whole and, parti
cularly, the peoples of the developing countries. Three 
important resolutions had been approved during the 
session relating to mari~e mineral resources, educa-p6h in 
oceanology, ,and a long-range international oceanic 

I' 



Economic and Social Councli-Forty-fiftb .session 
--------------------------------------~~~--~~~---------------------~--------
-

research programme (resolutions 1380 (XLV), 1382 
(XLV), 1381 (XLV)). 
46. No substantive action had been decided upon by 
the Council in the field of transport policy and co
ordination, desplte the challenging importance of that 
pivotal area of development. The Council had~ however, 
held useful discussions on a related subject--that of 
tourism-which could be. of great importance to the 
economies of ~eveloping countries. As a result, it had 
decided to consider the question further at its forty
seventh session and had requested the Secretary-General 
to prepare a report giving a comprehensive picture of 
United Nations activities in that field. 
47. A significant feature of the past year had been the 
increasing number of matters before the Council involving 
some aspect of science or technology. The work of the 
Aqvjsory Committee on the Application of Science and 
Technology to Development was having an increasing 
impact and the Council had not<:d with satisfaction the 
close !inks that had been established between that Com
mittee and members of the United Nations family. It 
looked forward to further reports from the Advisory 
Committee on such matters as natural resources and the 
teachittg of science; and particularly the World Plan of 
Action being developed (see E/4552, para. 26), which it 
hoped w~uld be closely integrated WAth the plans for 
the second·, Development Decade. The AdVisory Com
mittee's work ·<m protein had also been followed with 
great interest in the- Council. 
48. A significant feat~re of the 'session's work had been 
the important Swedish proposals on the subject of the . 
deterioration of the human environment. The Council's 
debate might well have been the first step in a wodd 
campaign to draw public attention to that problem, 
which, if left unchecked, could do much to reverse the 
gai11s of economic development, 
49. Although the debates, had been largely concetned 
with matters of organization and machinerY,, the problems 
of facilitating the transfer of technology from developed 
to dY,veloping countries had received considerable atten
tion.' The Council looked forward with particular interest 
to the report which the Secretary-General had been 
reque:;ted to prepare on ways and means of extending 
and intensifying the work currently being done in that 
field by the United Nations family. 
50. The discussions on the brain drain provided a natural 
link between science and technology and human resources. 
The latter problem had two aspects, the quantitative and 
the qualitative. Population questions constituted a major 
item that merited the Council's continuing c.\ttention, 
As the Secretary-General had pointed out, there would 
be a 30 per cent greater increase in population during 
the second Development Decade than in the 1960s, 
and therefore, as he had said~ the Decade must " empha
size the cri~cal relationship between population and 
resources and begin to deal with the resultant problems". 
'J'he Council's debate on th~ subject had coincided with 
a major pronouncement on the subject by the Pope. 
The Council had dealt with population matters essentially 
from the viewpoint of their close connexiotn with industrial 
and agricultural development and with improvements in 

levels of living, health and education. A problem as 
complex and diversified as that of population had, of 
necessity, to he interpreted in various ways, and the 
solutions necessarily varied according to the economic 
and cultural conditions prevailing in the various parts 
of the wodd, The Council had recognized that the basic 
relationship between development and population should 
be approached particularly at the regional level. To 
attain development t&rgets, it was necessary that efforts 
in regard to population should be combined with those 
concerning production, trade and finance. Emphasis had 
been laid on the fact that more knowledge was required 
for a bett~r understanding of population problems and 
that the United Nations organizati9ns should continue 
their research in that important field. 

,, 

.51. The dedication of the yt~ar 1968 to human rights 
had given a unique opportunity to all organizations, 
Governments and people of goodwill to increase their 
efl:brts to achieve the goal of univ~rsalrespect for human 
rights and fundamental freedoms. Observance of the 
International Year for Human Rights had been marked 
by a variety of constructive activities at the international, 
rehrional and national levels, the importance of which 
the Council could not fail to appreciate. The findings of 
the International Conference on Human Rights at 
Teheran were embodied in a number of resolutions on 
matters of great importance to the world community and 
in the unanimously adopted Proclamation of Teheran. 
The Council's, attention had repeatedly been drawn to 
the importance of the views expressed and the results 
achieved at Teheran. The Council itself, ha,ying at its 
forty-fourth session revi~wed the work of its two func
tic>nal commi&sions dealing with human rights, had 
adopted a number of important resolutions several of 
which contained draft resolutions recommended for 
approval to the General Assembly. A matter of major 

· significance, as reflected in the recommendations of the 
Teheran Conference, continued to be the concern with 
gross violations of human rights such as racial discrimina
tion, the resurgence of totalitarian ideologies and the 
policy of apartheid. Several of the resolutions adopted 
related to such questions, and the Council had also, 
in its resolution 1336 (XLIV), expressed its concern for 
human rights in territories occupied as result of hostilities 
in the Middle East. 

52. Among recommendations relating to the status of 
women, mention might be made of Council resolution 
1325 (XLIV) proposing measures for the implementation 
of the Declaration on the Elimination of Discrimination 
against Women, unanimously adop.ted by the General 
Assembly on 7 November 1967 (resolution 2263 (XXII)), 
it might also be recalled that the Council, by its resolution 
1326 (XLIV) had approved the decision of the Commis
sion on the Status of Women to appoint a Special 
Rapporteur to continue the study on the status of women 
and family planning. 

53. A major le~son of the first Development Decade had 
been the clearer recognition of the central importance of 
the human factor to development and the need for each 
~ountry to mobilize its own huma~:-t resources along with 
matertai 11nd financial resources in order to promote 



156lst meding-2 August 1968 201 

sountd economic and social progress. As the first Develop~ 
me11~t Decade had shown, the transformation of structures 
and· attitudes in a way consistent with the needs and 
values of the culture concerned was at least as important 
to the modernization of society and economy as the new 
technologies and greater capital investment. ~t ·had 
become clear that the failure to give adequate attention, 
at an early enough stase in the planning process, to the 
qualitative social and · institutional factors that might 
impede or promote development compromised from the 
outset the realism and the effectiveness of planning. To be 
effective, plans had to reflect a truly integrated and 
comprehensive approach to development, as was stressed 
in the draft declaration on social development 1 which 
had been prepared by the Commission for Social Develop
ment and studied by the Council at its preceding session. 
The · draft declaration represented an important step in 
the process of defining the major principles and objectives 
for international policy in the -social field, and its comple
tion by the General Assembly could be expected to pro
vide significant guidance to international organizations 
and Governments alike in their planning for the comiug 
Decade. 
54. Many delegations to the Council had stressed not 
only the need for Governments to be closely associated 
with the planning process but also for the people of the 
developing countries to be purposefully involved in 
development work. In deciding to give special attention 
to informing public opinion on developmen.t problems, 
t.he Council had already taken a step towards encouraging 
wider understanding of and participation in the work of 
the next Development Decade. Although an informed 
public opinion was indispensable, the actual mobilization 
of the human resources of the developing countries was 
equall)' fundamental. As th~ Cc:hnrnission for Social 
Development had pointed out, 2 " h~an resources were 
the one commodity in which virtually all the developing 
countries were rich , , and they~ therefore, constituted the 
real well-spring of progress and growth in those coun
tries. The Council had. been virtually unanimous in 
expressing the urgency of international action to assist 
the developing countries in tapping that well-spring, and 
future efforts in that direction would be of crucial signi
ficance for the success of the second Development Decade. 
55. Many representatives had stressed the important role 
of education in the long process of economic and SO't~ial 
developlllent, and thea- concern had been reflected in 
resolution 1355 (XLV), whereby the Council recommend
ed to the General Assembly that 1970 should be desig
nated as International Education Year. Education should 
be taken in its broadest sense. International Education 
Year should therefore be celebrated not only by speeches 
and ceremonies but by the formulation of concerted 
action programmes to which all the agencies concerned 
should make their specific contribution and in which 
Member States would have an opportunity to concentrate 
their efforts on major quantitative and qualitative objec
tives for the fostering of educational development. 

1 Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, forty-fourth 
session, Supplement No. 5, annex I. 

2 Ibid., Supplement No. 5, para. 35. 

---
56. The full develo}\'·:met;tt and utilization of human 
resources involved not,, only the education and training 
of actual and potenti~~~1. manpower and the creation of 
employment opportunities, b.ut also the f!Ssociation of 
the people with the tasks of development. A population 
group that was beco:rrllng proportionately larger was that 
of young peopJe~ and the . Council had shown itself 
particularly sensitive to the promise that the energy and 
idealism of youth throughout the world could represent 
for the achievem~nt of progress and peace .. The. Council's 
affirmation of the significance of youth's contribution to 
development was an important step, as was its recognition 
of the fact that the work of the United Nations and the 
specialized agencies should encourage and promote 
youth's participation in international efforts to ensure 
the real sucGess of the second Developmen~ Decade. 
57. The Council h.ad devoted considerable attention to 
the question of its relationships with non-governmental 
organizations and to enhancing the role tb.ey could play 
in furthering United Nations objectives. It had adopted 
an impof:;-:~t resolution (resolution '1296 (XLIV)) con
taining C:· : ·,4iled provisions governing the arrangements 
for consultation with such organizations\ in the future 
and had tak~n steps to strengthen the r~lationship of 
national and international non-governmental organiza
tions with .. the Office of Public Information (resolution 
1297 (XLIV)). 
58. In the past year, . the Council had received active 
co-operation from th~; ACC and the Committee for 
Programme and Co-ordination. The Council depended 
on the Committee for Programme and Co-ordination 
for much of the detailed work "Utat made. programme ' 
discussion and orientation possible, and on the Adminis
trative Committee on Co-ordination for the execution of 
programmes. The Council's relationship with those bodies ·· 
had been stimulated. and made more meaningful by the 
joint meetings of the officers of the Council with the 
Administrative Committee on Co-ordination and the 
Committee for Programme and Co-ordination at 
Bucharest in early July 1968. Those meetings had helped 
to increase understanding between the executive heads of 
United Nations organizations and governmental repre
sentatives responsible for co-ordinating their activities. 
The Council and the Committee for- Programme and 
Co-ordination had made progress .in dealing with com
plicated issues raised by the United Nations work pro
gramme in the economic, social and human rights fields 
and its budgetary requirelllents. Long-term planning arid 
priorities were areas in which the policy framework had 
been established for more concrete action in the coming 
year. Much still remained to be done, however, in devel
oping an integrated system of planning, programming 
and budgeting as recommended by the Ad Hoc .Committee 
of Experts to Examine the Finances of the United Nations 
and the Specialized Agencies. The requirements of 
General Assembly resolution 2 10 (XXII), under which 
the Secretary-General would submit to the General 
Assembly in 1969 a planning figure for 1971, should 
accelerate the progress towards an integrated system as 
envisaged. by the Ad Hoc Committee. It would seem only 
logical that the Sectetary-Oeneral should prepare his 
own proposals for the work to be carried out in a given 



202 Economic and Social Council-Forty-fifth session 

year in the light of action taken by programme-formulat
ing bodies, and that he should have some leeway to suggest 
re-arrangements and alternati •1es in the light of the 
financial and physical possibilities. Such a new approach 
might call for an examination of the current legislative 
and institutional arrangements to see what changes might 
be required to adapt them to new needs, particularly 
those of the second Development Decade. · ' 
59. The ACC had had quite a fruitful year, and the Coun
cil was pleased to note the signiJ'icant progress made with 
certain co-ordination problem~ that had previously proved 
rather intractable, particularly with reference to agricul
tural education, industry and computers. At the sugges
tion of the ACC, the Council had recommended to the 
General Ass~mbly that new provisions should be inserted 
in its rules of procedure to aid in the co-ordination 
process by ensuring adequate consultation with the 
specialized agencies before it took action on proposals 
involving them (resolution 1374 (XLV)). 
60. The Council had, for the first time, dealt with a 
co-ordinating issue deriving from the efforts of the ·: 
Organization to ensure the rapid decolonization of the 
remaining Non-Self-Governing Territories. The represen
tatives of the specialized agencies and of international 
institutions associated with the United Nations had told 
of the efforts they had made, and the Council was confi
dent that they would continue their co-operation and 
assist the United N-:.Hons in accordance with their 
mandate and the s;o_:: .1.a~ of their agreements with the 
Organization. 
61. Although the Council was generally satisfied with 
the efforts made to implement the recommendations of the 
Ad Hoc Committee of Experts to Examine the Finances 
of the United Nations and the Specialized Agencies, it 
had to be recognized that such implementation was a 
continuing process, for the Council as for other United 
Nations organs. 
62. The Council had not succeeded in making much 
headway in its efforts to solve the related problems of 
an overloaded calendar of meetings, overcro·. · ied agenda 
and an excessive amount of documentation. Many 
references had been made during the session to those 
crucial problems, but-ironically-their very seriousness 
had prevented the Council from dealing with them in 
the time at its disposal. It nevertheless intended to return 
to them in the near future since their solution was impera
tive if the Council was to continue to make a useful 
contribution to international co-operation for develop
ment. 
63. It was apparent that the efforts undertaken both 
inside and outside the Council had brought about a 
greater awareness of the need for and the possibilities 

Printed in Belgium 

of greater co-ordination among the organizations in the . 
United Nations family on substantive matters. The once 
defensive attitude arising out of jurisdictional claims had 
largely given way to a more positive and practical ap
proach leading to full co-operation by the agencies. 
In fact, the agencies had nothing to lose and much to 
gain from uniting their efforts in such important fields 
as education and training. That had become all the more 
important since multi-disciplinary activities and urojects 
had been undertaken involving various agencies. 

64. The lack of satisfactory results in the development 
process was not the fault of the Council, which never
theless needed to take a fresh look at its methods of work, 
and introduce whatever changes were required to enhance 
its contribution to the difficult task ahead. The whole 
working procedures of international organization in the 
economic and social fields would have to be reconsidered 
so as to make it more manageable and consequently 
more efficient in its multiple and interrelated activities. 
There would have to be more concentration in key areas. 
In the final analysis, however, the determining factor 
would be the political will and determination of all 
Governments to support by all practical means at their 
disposal the decisions of the Council and other organiza
tions working in the economic and social fields. The 
awareness of the complex problems of development was 
there, but it was necessary to mobilize potential resources 
and direct them towards the common undertaking of 
development. 

65. There were a few faint signs pointing to the ending 
of political situations which had had a dramatic effect 
on the world in general and on some countries in parti
cular. It was to be hoped that the people of those coun
tries would soon be relieved of the sufferings they were 
enduring and would be able to work with the rest of the 
world to build a durable peace in freedom and justice. 
The alternative was too bleak, but it had to be contem
plated. Although there was no room for complacency, 
the recent small advances in the direction of disarmament 
gave rise to cautious optimism. The Council and other 
United Nations organs would have to meet their joint 
responsibilities and strive for the attainment of common 
objectives. 
66. In conclusion, he thanked the members of the Council 
for their co-operation, without which the quite satis
factory results of the session could not have been obtained. 

67. After an exchange of courtesies, the PRESIDENT 
declared the forty-fifth session of the Economic and 
Social Council adjourned. 

The meeting rose at 11.50 p.m. 

04072-September 1968-1,500 




